**RECEIVED**

**Nov 03 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**FORM 13  
BRIEF OF APPELLANT\***

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY in the Court of Common Pleas  
Judge Maite Murphy

Case No.: 2023-CP-38-00331

**Serge R. Wandji, Plaintiff/Appellant  
v.  
The Regional Medical Center, Defendant/Respondent**

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
Appellate Case No.2025-000108

s/Serge Wandji  
579 Folly Road  
Post Office Box 12112  
Charleston SC, 29422  
(678) 612-9649  
Pro see Appellant  
sergewandji@gmail.com

## INTRODUCTION

This appeal arises from the trial court's erroneous grant of summary judgment in favor of The Regional Medical Center (TRMC) in a retaliation claim brought under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act by Plaintiff-Appellant Serge R. Wandji. The lower court concluded there was no genuine issue of material fact, despite a robust record demonstrating that TRMC engaged in sustained retaliatory conduct after Appellant filed a workers' compensation claim for a workplace-acquired COVID-19 infection.

Appellant presented substantial evidence showing that TRMC:

- pressured him to return to work a week after a positive COVID test and medically removed;
- placed him on retroactive, involuntary leave without his consent;
- refused to accommodate medical restrictions supported by multiple clearances;
- disclosed protected health information in violation of federal law;
- offered coercive and improper settlements in exchange for waiving legal rights;
- relied on a conflicted and discredited "expert" witness; and
- secretly consulted labor attorneys to plan his termination while falsely denying such actions under oath.

These cumulative actions demonstrate clear retaliatory intent and raise significant factual disputes regarding TRMC's motive, credibility, and pattern of conduct. The trial court failed to draw all reasonable inferences in Appellant's favor—as required under **Rule 56, SCRC**P—and instead accepted TRMC's justifications without considering substantial countervailing evidence.

Because the record reveals genuine disputes of material fact that should be resolved by a jury, the lower court's grant of summary judgment was legally improper. Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse the judgment and remand the matter for trial.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment despite substantial evidence establishing a causal connection between Appellant's filing of a workers' compensation claim and the subsequent adverse employment actions, including termination.
2. Whether the trial court failed to properly evaluate evidence of pretext, including TRMC's reliance on a conflicted and non-independent expert witness whose testimony was later contradicted under oath.
3. Whether the trial court erred in overlooking TRMC's pattern of retaliatory conduct, including coercive and improper settlement offers, fraudulent leave misclassifications, and unauthorized disclosures of Appellant's protected health information (PHI).
4. Whether TRMC's refusal to accommodate Appellant's medically prescribed work restrictions—despite multiple clearances—constituted actionable retaliation, and whether the trial court erred in failing to address this as a material fact issue.
5. Whether TRMC's manipulation of internal leave policies and undisclosed consultations with labor attorneys—paired with false sworn statements—demonstrate pretext sufficient to survive summary judgment.
6. Whether the cumulative evidence of retaliation, bad faith, and procedural misconduct created genuine disputes of material fact that require resolution by a jury under South Carolina law.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, a licensed staff nurse, was employed by The Regional Medical Center (TRMC) in Orangeburg, South Carolina, beginning in March 2021. In August 2021, amid a documented COVID-19 outbreak at the hospital, Appellant contracted the virus while performing his duties and was subsequently medically removed from work. Shortly thereafter, he filed a workers' compensation claim. In response, TRMC engaged in a sustained pattern of retaliatory conduct that included: pressuring him to return to work while seriously ill, placing him on involuntary and retroactive leave, refusing to accommodate his medically supported work restrictions, mishandling his protected health information, using improper and conflicted expert testimony, and ultimately terminating his employment in March 2022.

Despite Appellant's repeated efforts to return to work, including personal visits, written correspondence, and medical clearances, TRMC denied reinstatement and secretly consulted labor counsel to develop a strategy for his dismissal. TRMC's justification for termination was pretextually framed as "leave exhaustion" and an inability to perform 12-hour shifts, while ignoring its own role in imposing administrative leave and rejecting Appellant's requests for reasonable accommodations.

The trial court nevertheless granted summary judgment in TRMC's favor, relying on TRMC's version of events while failing to address material factual disputes, including conflicting evidence regarding Appellant's work readiness, TRMC's internal decision-making, and retaliatory motive. The court also failed to consider the cumulative pattern of adverse actions in light of **S.C. Code Ann. § 41-1-80**, which prohibits retaliation against employees who file workers' compensation claims.

Appellant now seeks appellate review of the lower tribunal's decision, asserting that genuine issues of material fact remain and that the grant of summary judgment was in error. This appeal challenges not only the legal sufficiency of TRMC's defense, but also the procedural fairness and integrity of the proceedings below.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is appropriate only when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRPC. In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the appellate court applies a de novo standard of review, considering the entire record and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. See *Hines v. Blue Cross Blue Shield of South Carolina*, 411 S.C. 108, 119, 767 S.E.2d 362, 369 (2014); *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). While the court does not weigh evidence or make credibility determinations at the summary judgment stage, it must ensure that the lower tribunal correctly applied the law and did not resolve factual disputes that are properly reserved for a jury. See *Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991).

This standard is particularly critical in retaliation cases brought under S.C. Code Ann. § 41-1-80, where intent, motive, and pretext are often central issues. See *Stewart v. Beaufort County*, 481 S.E.2d 168, 170 (S.C. Ct. App. 1997); *Miller v. State Workers' Comp. Fund*, 379 S.C. 129, 137, 665 S.E.2d 612, 616 (2008). Because these claims are rarely susceptible to resolution as a matter of law, summary judgment is typically inappropriate where material facts are in dispute or where competing inferences may be drawn.

## FACTS RELEVANT TO ARGUMENTS

Appellant Serge R. Wandji began working as a staff nurse at The Regional Medical Center (TRMC) in Orangeburg, South Carolina, on March 8, 2021. His job description acknowledged regular exposure to infectious diseases (R.p.414 under ‘Work Environment’). In August 2021, amid a hospital-wide COVID- 19 outbreak, Appellant was exposed (R.p.416; R.p.418) and tested positive on August 27, 2021 (R. p. 420). He was immediately medically removed from duty by his employer (TRMC).

While isolating at home with severe symptoms, Appellant filed a workers’ compensation claim on August 31, 2021, and submitted an incident report on September 2, 2021 (R. p. 422), both of which were acknowledged by TRMC (R. p. 424). On September 3, 2021—while on medical leave, alone, and struggling with COVID-19—he received text messages from TRMC pressuring him to return to work (R. pp. 426- 429). This emotional distress led to his hospitalization on September 6, 2021, where he was diagnosed with COVID-19 pneumonia and acute stress disorder (R. pp. 431- 432).

The retaliatory conduct continued during his hospitalization. On September 7, 2021, TRMC mailed a demand that Appellant must submit Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) paperwork within 15 days (R. p. 434), despite knowing that he was incapacitated, had never requested FMLA, and was not eligible. On September 24, 2021, TRMC retroactively “*approved*” a leave of absence that Appellant never requested, backdated to August 28, 2021—when he was medically removed due to occupational COVID-19 exposure (R. p. 436).

Following discharge, Appellant remained on workers’ compensation leave and was required by TRMC to make monthly premium payments to retain health insurance, which he did (R. pp. 438- 442). His repeated inquiries about his claim went unanswered (R. pp. 444- 445; R. p. 447),

prompting him to file formal Form 50 on November 29, 2021, with the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission (R. p. 449). In response, TRMC's attorney Mr. Roy Howell III offered a \$100 settlement in exchange for a broad release of claims, including retaliation (R. p. 451); an offer Appellant rejected. He renewed his Form 50 on September 9, 2022 (R. pp. 453-456), which marked the beginning of intensified retaliatory behavior.

Among the most serious of TRMC's actions was the unauthorized disclosure of Appellant's protected health information (PHI). Multiple unencrypted emails revealed sensitive medical, identifying, and insurance information in violation of federal privacy law (R. pp. 592-593). This conduct is detailed under Argument Section E.

Throughout this time, Appellant remained under medical supervision and submitted updates to TRMC (R. pp. 458-462). On January 17, 2022, he was medically cleared to return to work with temporary restrictions (R. p. 464). Despite notifying TRMC and his attorney's direct outreach (R. p. 466), he received no response. Appellant personally visited TRMC on January 26, 2022, and followed up with emails on February 25 and March 9 (R. pp. 468-469; R. p. 471), but was never reinstated. On March 11, 2022, his psychologist also cleared him to return to duty (R. p. 473). Meanwhile, TRMC secretly consulted two labor attorneys to develop strategies to end Appellant's employment (R. p. 475)—an effort concealed during deposition testimony. These undisclosed consultations, coupled with false testimony from TRMC's CEO denying such discussions (R. p. 577; lines: 16-24), raise serious questions of pretext and bad faith.

On March 15, 2022, TRMC terminated Appellant's employment citing "leave exhaustion," despite medical clearance and documented willingness to return (R. p. 477). This termination, following a sustained pattern of retaliation, coercion, misrepresentation, and obstruction, lies at the heart of this

appeal.

## ARGUMENTS

### A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT DESPITE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE OF RETALIATION

Under South Carolina law, an employee establishes a prima facie case of retaliation for filing a workers' compensation claim by demonstrating: (1) participation in a protected activity; (2) the occurrence of an adverse employment action; and (3) a causal connection between the two. S.C. Code Ann. § 41-1-80; see also *Johnson v. J.P. Stevens & Co.*, 308 S.C. 116, 119, 417 S.E.2d 527, 529 (1992). Once a prima facie case is established, the burden shifts to the employer to articulate a legitimate, non-retaliatory reason for the adverse action. If such a reason is given, the burden returns to the employee to show that the stated reason was merely a pretext for retaliation. See *Hines v. Blue Cross Blue Shield of S.C.*, 411 S.C. 108, 119, 767 S.E.2d 362, 368–69 (2014).

Here, the Appellant provided clear and compelling evidence of each required element:

1. Protected Activity: It is undisputed that the Appellant filed a workers' compensation claim with TRMC following his workplace exposure to COVID-19 in August 2021 (R. p.418). He submitted a formal incident report on September 2, 2021 (R. p. 422), and subsequently filed a Form 50 with the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission on November 29, 2021 (R. p. 449). This activity is squarely protected under S.C. Code Ann. § 41-1-80.
2. Adverse Employment Action: Appellant's employment was terminated by TRMC on March 15, 2022, as documented in his termination letter (R. p.477). Termination is the

quintessential adverse action for purposes of retaliation claims. See *Layman v. State Workers' Comp. Fund*, 366 S.C. 37, 620 S.E.2d 86 (2005).

3. Causal Connection: The causal link between the protected activity and the adverse employment action is supported by temporal proximity and evidence of a broader pattern of retaliatory conduct. Courts have consistently held that a close temporal relationship between the exercise of a protected right and termination may support an inference of retaliation. See *Hines*, 411 S.C. at 119 (holding that proximity between protected activity and termination “strengthens the inference” of retaliation). Here, Appellant was terminated just six months after submitting his renewed Form 50 in September 2022 (R. pp. 452- 456), after settlement negotiations failed. This timing alone supports an inference of causation. But the record also includes a sustained pattern of retaliatory behavior: TRMC’s refusal to reinstate Appellant (R. pp. 465 -471) despite medical clearance (R. p. 464), its imposition of retroactive leave (R. p.436), the mishandling of his protected health information (R. p. 593), coercive settlement tactics (R. p. 451), and the use of a conflicted “expert” witness all indicate that the termination was not an isolated event, but the culmination of a calculated effort to retaliate.

South Carolina law does not require direct evidence of motive; retaliatory intent may be inferred from circumstantial evidence, including employer conduct and inconsistencies in the employer’s stated rationale. See *Miller v. State Workers' Compensation Fund*, 379 S.C. 129, 137, 665 S.E.2d 612, 616 (2008). In this case, TRMC's evolving explanations, contradictory conduct, and secret legal consultations (R. p. 475) all support a finding of pretext.

In sum, Appellant presented a robust factual record showing that his termination followed closely

after, and in response to, his protected activity, supported by numerous retaliatory actions taken in the interim. These factual disputes are not appropriate for summary judgment. Rather, they are questions of motive, credibility, and pretext that must be resolved by a jury. See *McCall v. Batson*, 285 S.C. 243, 247, 329 S.E.2d 741, 743–44 (1985).

Accordingly, the trial court erred in granting summary judgment, and this matter should be reversed and remanded for trial.

#### B. PROCEDURAL ERRORS AND DUE PROCESS CONCERNS WARRANT REVERSAL

The procedural history leading to the trial court's grant of summary judgment reflects a series of substantial irregularities that deprived the pro se Appellant of a fair opportunity to oppose the motion and present essential evidence. The lower court's failure to provide due process protections, particularly to a self-represented litigant, raises significant concerns under both South Carolina law and well-established constitutional principles.

First and foremost, the trial court never ruled on or acknowledged the Appellant's duly filed Motion in Opposition to Summary Judgment, submitted on November 4, 2024 (R. pp. 98-106).

This filing directly contested the procedural propriety of granting summary judgment in light of incomplete discovery and material factual disputes. The court's complete silence on this motion, despite its clear presence in the record (R. pp. 98 -106) constitutes a denial of the Appellant's right to be heard on a dispositive matter. South Carolina courts have held that summary judgment is improper where discovery remains incomplete or where a litigant has not had a fair opportunity to present essential facts. See *Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991).

Compounding this fundamental error, the record shows that the Appellant was provided only a

partial production of his long-requested critical discovery materials on the eve of the hearing November 13, 2024 (R. pp. 232- 234; following Court Order: R. pp. 229- 231) and Defendants’ production: (R. pp. 373- 383) . These documents were essential to mounting a substantive opposition to summary judgment and were received less than 24 hours before the hearing. While the court did not formally issue its ruling until December 16, 2024, it allowed the hearing to proceed on November 14 despite the fact that discovery was still actively unfolding. This effectively forced the Appellant to defend against a dispositive motion without adequate time to review, analyze, or respond to newly produced evidence—evidence the defense had withheld for months.

At the November 14 hearing, the asymmetry of procedure became more pronounced. Although defense counsel, Mrs. Amanda Williams, was permitted to orally argue the motion in open court, the pro se Appellant was explicitly barred from presenting oral argument after he told the judge about receiving critical discovery materials on the eve of the hearing—November 13, 2024. Pro se Appellant was instead instructed to file a memorandum in writing within one week (R. p. 194, lines: 23-25; p.195 lines: 1-8). While the Appellant complied with that directive—filing a detailed opposition on November 21, 2024—the court later granted summary judgment without any subsequent hearing, and without affording the Appellant an opportunity to rebut the Defendant’s arguments orally. Such one-sided presentation violates foundational norms of due process. *See Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Trust Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 314 (1950) (“An elementary and fundamental requirement of due process... is notice and the opportunity to present objections.”). Adding further prejudice, the Defendants’ posture throughout these proceedings reflects a strategic circumvention of procedural fairness. Back on April 24, 2024, Defendants categorically rejected both

court-annexed mediation (required by South Carolina ADR rules) (R. pp. 200- 201) and a good-faith settlement offer extended by Appellant more than a month earlier (R. p. 197). In their written response, they stated that “[t]hey are not interested in responding at this time. They feel strongly about their defenses and their ability to succeed on a Motion for Summary Judgment” (R. p. 198). This response, dismissing mandatory mediation (R. p. 200) under Rule 3(b), SCRCR and Rule 19, SCADR, illustrates the extent to which the Defendants placed all reliance on prevailing by procedural default, rather than on a full evidentiary record or fair negotiation. This response also reflects not only an absence of good-faith negotiation but also a disregard for procedural requirements and judicial economy.

The procedural timeline below reflects a pattern of judicial and litigant conduct that deprived Appellant of due process:

- **September 24, 2024** – Defense counsel filed a Motion for Summary Judgment while discovery was still ongoing (R. pp. 90- 92).
- **September 26, 2024** – Appellant submitted a preliminary response, indicating that a complete opposition memorandum would follow once discovery concluded (R. pp. 93- 97).
- **November 4, 2024** – Appellant filed a formal Motion in Opposition, objecting to premature adjudication due to ongoing discovery. The trial court never issued a ruling or acknowledgment of this filing (R. pp. 98- 106).
- **November 13, 2024** – Defendants produced incomplete critical discovery materials, less than 24 hours before the scheduled hearing (R. pp. 373- 383).
- **November 14, 2024** – At the hearing, defense counsel was permitted oral argument (R. pp. 185- 191). Appellant was denied the same opportunity. The court instructed

Appellant to submit a memorandum instead (R. p.194, lines: 23-25; R. p. 195, lines: 1-8), which he filed on **November 21, 2024** (R. pp. 384- 412).

- **December 16, 2024** – Without further hearing or opportunity for rebuttal, the court granted summary judgment via a sentence email from Judge Murphy’s law clerk. No legal reasoning or factual findings were provided (R. pp. 202- 204). Appellant was not afforded a hearing where both sides were heard following the full exchange of memoranda.

This denial of a meaningful opportunity to be heard—especially in the form of live oral rebuttal to arguments made in open court—runs afoul of fundamental principles of due process, which require that each party be given an equal and fair opportunity to present objections prior to the entry of adverse judgment. *See Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Trust Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 314 (1950) (“An elementary and fundamental requirement of due process in any proceeding... is notice reasonably calculated... and the opportunity to present objections.”).

Moreover, and because no record documents oral argument from both sides after final briefing (memorandum) was complete, the record is devoid of any adversarial engagement—undermining the fairness and integrity of the process.

Further exacerbating these concerns, the court’s ruling was issued via a one-line email from Judge Murphy’s law clerk on December 16, 2024, with no findings of fact or legal analysis (R. p. 202).

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