THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

NOV 17 2025

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000108

Case No.: 2023-CP-38-00331

Serge R. Wandji.....Appellant,

v.

The Regional Medical Center.....Respondent,

FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

Amanda C. Williams (SC Bar No.: 76588)
Email: amandawilliams@parkerpoe.com
Megan M. Feltham (SC Bar No.: 105473)
Email: meganfeltham@parkerpoe.com
PARKER POE ADAMS & BERNSTEIN LLP
850 Morrison Drive, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29403
Phone: 843-727-2650
Fax: 843-727-2680

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

	Appellant improperly cites to this judicial opinion to support the proposition that compromised expert testimony should not be considered when the opinion does not once state the word “expert.” (Appellant’s Initial Brief, p 21.)
<i>Stewart v. Beaufort Cty.</i> , 481 S.E.2d 168 (S.C. Ct. App. 1997)	<p>Fictitious case used to support the false proposition that the cumulative effect of TRMC’s conduct amounts to unlawful retaliation. (Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 27.)</p> <p>Fictitious quotes used to support the false proposition that S.C. Code Ann. § 41-1-80 prohibits all forms of retaliatory conduct. (Appellant’s Initial Brief, pp. 13, 14.)</p>
<i>Smith-Cooper v. Cooper</i> , 344 S.C. 289, 291, 543 S.E.2d 271,272 (Ct. App. 2001)	<p>Fictitious quote; This case does not otherwise stand for the proposition for which it is cited.</p> <p>Appellant improperly cites to this judicial opinion regarding the terms of an agreement between a husband and wife in family court to support his argument that the trial court erred in adopting TRMC’s proposed order granting TRMC’s motion for summary judgment. (Appellant’s Initial Brief, p 10.)</p>
<i>Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. White</i> , 548 U.S. 53, 126 S. Ct. 2405, 165 L. Ed. 2d 345 (2006)	<p>Does not stand for the proposition for which it is cited.</p> <p>Appellant improperly cites to this judicial opinion regarding a Title VII action for sex discrimination to support his argument that the refusal to reinstate an employee following medical leave is a form of retaliation (Appellant’s Initial Brief, p 17.)</p>
<i>Hernandez v. Compass Group USA, Inc.</i> , No. 2:18-cv-03594, 2020 WL 1067614 (D.S.C. Mar. 5, 2020)	Fictitious case used to support the false proposition that denial of reinstatement following protected leave constitutes evidence of retaliation. (Appellant’s Initial Brief, p 18.)
<i>Hines v. United Parcel Serv., Inc.</i> , 736 F. Supp. 2d 1139, 1153 (S.D. Fla. 2010)	Fictitious case used to support the proposition that temporal proximity may serve as compelling evidence of retaliation. (Appellant’s Initial Brief, p 11.)
<i>Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods., Inc.</i> , 530 U.S. 133, 120 S. Ct. 2097, 147 L. Ed. 2d 105 (2000)	Does not stand for the proposition for which it is cited.

	Appellant improperly cites to this judicial opinion regarding an Age Discrimination in Employment Act action for discrimination based on age, in support of his false proposition that the ADA prohibits an employer from using an employee's physical limitations as justification for adverse employment actions.
<i>Stevenson v. Precision Standard, Inc.</i> , 762 So. 2d 820, 826 (Al. 2000) ⁵	Does not stand for the proposition for which it is cited. Appellant improperly cites to this Alabama judicial opinion related to Alabama state tort claims, in support of his argument that S.C. Code Ann. § 41-1-80 prohibits adverse actions beyond termination. (Appellant's Initial Brief, p 14.)
<i>Horn v. Davis Elec. Constructors, Inc.</i> , 307 S.C. 559, 416 S.E.2d 634 (1992)	Does not stand for the proposition for which it is cited. Appellant incorrectly relies on this case to argue that failing to accommodate an employee's medical restrictions proves retaliation. (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 19.) However, the court in <i>Horn</i> held that an employer may terminate an employee unable to perform their former job functions and stated, "Section 41-1-80 does not singularly accord to an employee the right to a reasonable period of time for rehabilitation to demonstrate the ability to perform his former employment...." <i>Horn v. Davis Elec. Constructors, Inc.</i> , 307 S.C. 559, 564, 416 S.E.2d 634, 637 (1992).
Family Medical Leave Act ("FMLA")	There is no claim brought under the FMLA in Appellant's Complaint and is not relevant to the issues before the Court.
Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA")	There is no claim brought under the ADA in Appellant's Complaint and is not relevant to the issues before the Court.
S.C. Code Ann. § 41-1-80	Misrepresents to the court that the relevant statute "explicitly prohibits any adverse employment action taken in response to the

⁵ The citation included by Appellant in his brief was incorrect, using "La." rather than "Al." to reference the relevant court in the citation.

	<p>filing of a workers' compensation claim." (Appellant's Initial Brief pp. 13, 17, 27.)</p> <p>Includes a fictitious quote to the statute in attempts to improperly broaden the scope of prohibited acts. (Appellant's Initial Brief, p 14.)</p>
	<p>In fact, the statute states, "No employer may <i>discharge or demote</i> any employee because the employee has instituted or caused to be instituted, in good faith, any proceeding under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Law. . . ." (emphasis added).</p>
S.C. Code. Ann. § 42-9-10	<p>Misrepresents to the court that this statute requires an employer to accommodate work restrictions stemming from an injury. (Appellant's Initial Brief, p 18.)</p> <p>In fact, the statute contains the statutorily required amount of compensation for an individual found to be totally disabled under the Workers' Compensation Act.</p>

As reflected in the above table, not one of Appellant's twelve arguments in his Initial Brief is supported by proper legal authority. Instead, Appellant's Initial Brief is riddled with citations to inapposite, fabricated, or non-existent cases, as well as misstatements of legal standards. Because all of Appellant's arguments and the corresponding issues on appeal are unsupported by any relevant or credible legal authority, they should be deemed abandoned on appeal. *Bryson*, 378 S.C. at 510, 662 S.E.2d at 615.

II. APPELLANT FAILED TO PRESERVE FOR APPELLATE REVIEW THOSE ISSUES RAISED, BUT NOT EXPRESSLY RULED UPON BY THE CIRCUIT COURT BECAUSE HE DID NOT FILE A MOTION TO ALTER OR AMEND THE JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO RULE 59(E), SCRPC.

Not only did Appellant abandon the arguments set forth in his appeal by failing to support them with credible legal authority, Appellant has also failed to preserve for appeal many of the issues he now presents to this Court for appellate review. To successfully preserve an issue for

appellate review, the issue must be: “(1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.” *S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 302, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007) (quoting Jean Hoefer Toal et al., *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 57 (2d ed. 2002)). The purpose of the issue preservation requirements is to “enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, laws, and arguments.” *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). It also “prevents a party from keeping an ace card up his sleeve—intentionally or by chance—in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity to prove his case.” *Id.*

In its Order Granting Summary Judgment, the lower court’s ruling addressed the following three issues: (1) whether TRMC had established its affirmative defense pursuant to S.C. Code § 41-1-80, (2) whether there was sufficient temporal proximity between the institution of Appellant’s workers’ compensation claim and the termination of his employment to raise an inference of retaliatory intent, and (3) whether TRMC’s alleged failure to accommodate Appellant, even if taken as true, was enough to overcome TRMC’s affirmative defense.

Despite the narrow issues ruled upon by the lower court, Appellant now seeks to include multiple issues on appeal that were never ruled upon by the lower court. Those issues include: (1) allegations of procedural errors and a lack of due process during the proceedings in the lower court, which correspond to Argument B of Appellant’s Initial Brief and (2) allegations of misrepresentation and retaliatory conduct in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 41-1-80, which correspond to Arguments A, C, D, E, G, H, I, J, K, and L of Appellant’s Initial Brief.

By Appellant’s own admission, the lower court did not rule on these issues in its Order Granting Summary Judgment, most of which were raised for the first time in his Third Opposition

following the summary judgment hearing. (“[T]he trial court never ruled on or acknowledged the Appellant’s duly filed Motion in Opposition to Summary Judgment. . . .” Appellant’s Initial Brief p. 7.) Despite the foregoing, Appellant did not file a Rule 59(e) motion asking the circuit court to rule on these issues. Instead, he immediately filed an appeal before the circuit court issued its final order granting summary judgment. (See Notice of Appeal dated 1/11/25.) “A party *must* file [a rule 59(e)] motion when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review.” *Feldman v. Feldman*, 380 S.C. 538, 545, 670 S.E.2d 669, 672 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing *Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004)) (emphasis in original) (internal quotations omitted).

Appellant’s failure to raise these issues to the circuit court through a Rule 59(e) motion following the issuance of the circuit court’s Order Granting TRMC’s Motion for Summary Judgment precludes Appellant from now arguing these issues on appeal. See *Bean v. S.C. Cent. R. Co.*, 392 S.C. 532, 559, 709 S.E.2d 99, 113 (Ct. App. 2011) (holding plaintiff’s argument that he was not afforded a reasonable opportunity to complete discovery was not ruled upon in the court’s order granting summary judgment, and thus, the issue was not preserved for the appellate court’s review); *Jones v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 364 S.C. 222, 235, 612 S.E.2d 719, 726 (Ct. App. 2005) (holding appellant’s assertion that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment due to a factual issue was not preserved for review because the trial court did not explicitly rule on the argument and the appellant did not make a Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend). “It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998).

Because the arguments regarding alleged procedural errors and due process concerns (Argument B of Appellant's Initial Brief at pp. 7-10) and alleged misrepresentations and retaliatory conduct (Arguments A, C, D, E, G, H, I, J, K, L of Appellant's Initial Brief) were never raised or ruled upon by the circuit court, they have not been preserved for appeal and must be dismissed.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING TRMC'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

The sole cause of action at issue in this matter is Appellant's claim for workers' compensation retaliation under S.C. Code § 41-1-80. In order to prevail on a workers' compensation retaliation claim, a plaintiff bears the burden of proving the following: "1) institution of workers' compensation proceedings, 2) discharge or demotion, and 3) a causal connection between the first two elements." *Hinton v. Designer Ensembles, Inc.*, 343 S.C. 236, 242, 540 S.E.2d 94, 97 (2000) (citing *Hines v. United Parcel Serv., Inc.*, 736 F. Supp. 675, 677 (D.S.C. 1990)). In order to prove causation, the employee must "establish that he would not have been discharged 'but for' the filing of the workers' compensation claim." *Id.* "The employee may succeed in this, either directly by persuading the court that the discharge was significantly motivated by retaliation for her exercise of statutory rights, or indirectly by showing that the employer's proffered explanation is unworthy of credence." *Id.* "[T]he ultimate burden is, throughout, upon the employee." *Id.* (citing *Wallace v. Milliken & Co.*, 305 S.C. 118, 122, 406 S.E.2d 358, 360 (1991)).

The lower court granted TRMC's Motion for Summary Judgment on the grounds that the undisputed evidence demonstrated that TRMC terminated Appellant's employment because he could not return to work and perform his duties as a floor nurse, and S.C. Code Ann. § 41-1-80 does not require an employer to retain an employee who can no longer perform his duties. Notably, Appellant's appeal does not seek to overturn the lower court's ruling on this issue, perhaps because

the undisputed evidence demonstrates that Appellant was offered the opportunity to return to work, but declined the offers because he could not perform the duties of his position as a floor nurse. (Ex. 2 to Def.'s Mot. for Summ. J., pp. 68:18 - 69:24, R. p. 144, line 18 - p. 145, line 24; Ex. 10 to Def.'s Mot. for Summ. J., R. p. 174; Ex. 11 to Def.'s Mot. for Summ. J., R. p. 177; Ex. 12 to Def.'s Mot. for Summ. J., R. p. 179; Ex. 18a to Pl.'s Third Opposition, R. p. 471.) Instead of arguing the court erred in granting TRMC's summary judgment based on Appellant's failure to meet established work standards, Appellant instead attempts to mislead the court with arguments that he not only failed to preserve for appellate review, but which are unsupported by the facts, unsupported by the improper and fictitious legal authority cited, and have no bearing on the issue of whether or not Appellant was terminated by TRMC in retaliation for instituting workers' compensation proceedings.

Accordingly, this Court should affirm the lower court's Order Granting TRMC's motion for summary judgment because: (1) the court properly granted TRMC's Motion for Summary Judgment based on Appellant's failure to meet established work standards; (2) there is no evidence of temporal proximity between the institution of his workers' compensation proceedings and the termination of Appellant's employment; (3) alleged evidence of TRMC's failure to accommodate Appellant's medical restrictions cannot support a finding of retaliatory discharge; (4) Appellant's arguments that the court erred in granting summary judgment based on alleged evidence of retaliation and misrepresentation are not properly before the court and are without merit; and (5) Appellant's argument that he was not afforded due process is not properly before this court and is without merit.

A. The Court Properly Held that Appellant’s Failure to Meet Established Work Standards Defeated His Workers’ Compensation Retaliation Claim as a Matter of Law.

S.C. Code Ann. § 41-1-80 provides that “[n]o employer may discharge or demote any employee because the employee has instituted or caused to be instituted, in good faith, any proceeding under the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Law....” The failure to meet established work standards is an affirmative defense under S.C. Code Ann. § 41-1-80 that may defeat a claim for workers’ compensation retaliation. *See Horn v. Davis Elec. Constructors, Inc.*, 302 S.C. 484, 489, 395 S.E.2d 724, 727 (Ct. App. 1990), *aff’d as modified*, 307 S.C. 559, 416 S.E.2d 634 (1992) (“An employer may prove as an affirmative defense [to S.C. Code § 41-1-80] that an employee failed to meet established work standards because he could not perform the physical requirements of the job.”). In its Order Granting Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment, the court held that Appellant’s workers’ compensation retaliation claim failed as a matter of law because Appellant was admittedly unable to perform the duties of his position as a floor nurse. (Order at p. 7, R. p. 222.) “Section 41-1-80 and statutes like it do not [] require an employer to retain an employee who can no longer perform the duties of her job simply because her inability to perform the duties results from an on-the-job injury.” *Varner v. Serco Inc.*, No. 2:16-CV-02340-DCN, 2018 WL 4052447, at *3 (D.S.C. Aug. 24, 2018) (quoting *Hines v. United Parcel Serv., Inc.*, 736 F. Supp. 675, 677 (D.S.C. 1990)) (granting defendant’s motion for summary judgment on plaintiff’s workers’ compensation retaliation claim because plaintiff was unable to meet the requirements of her job as a result of a lifting restriction imposed on her by her physician.).

Notably, Appellant makes no attempt to appeal the court’s ruling granting summary judgment to TRMC based on the affirmative defense that Appellant was terminated from his position at TRMC because he failed to meet established work standards. Instead, Appellant’s

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